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March 1, 1983

Mr. Thomas T. Martin, Dire
pivision of Engineering an

Region 1

631 Park Avenue -
Pennsylvania

King of Prussia,
THRU:

Medical Center 80 Irving Street, NW

Washington D C. 20422
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Inspection No. 83-01

License No. 08-00942-04
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SNM- 180544 20-2/99
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d Technical Programs
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pr. James J. Smith, Director

Nuclear Medicine Service (115)

VA Central Office
Wwashington, D

Dear Mr. Martin:
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se time by two weeks.
e from March 7
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Docket Nos.: 30-00123 License Nos.: 08-00942-04
30-01314 08-00942-05 4~
70-02199 SNM-1605

Veterans Administration Medical Center
ATTN: Mr. A. A. Gauazzi
Director
50 Irving St. N.W.
washington, D.C. 20422

Gentlemen:
Subject: Inspection No. 83-01

This refers to the routine safety inspection conducted by Messrs. J.Nicolosi
and S. Jones of this office on January 5, 1983 of activities authorized by NRC
License Nos. 08-00942-04, 08-00942-05 and SNM-1605 and to the discussions of
our findings held by Mr. Nicolosi with Ms. Shepherd and other members of your
staff at the conclusion of the inspection.

The inspection was an examination of activities conducted under your license

as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Commission's
rules and regulations and the conditions of your iicenses. The inspection
consisted of selective examinations of procedures and representative records,
interviews with personnel. measurements made by the inspector, and observations
by the inspector.

With regard to NRC License No. 08-00942-05 our inspector also verified the
steps you have taken to correct the violations brought to your attention in the
enclosure to our letter dated March 28, 1980. We have no further questions
regarding the steps you took to correct items 1 and 2. with regard to item 3
this item was not fully corrected.

Based on the results of this inspection, it appears that certain of your
activities was not conducted in full compliance with NRC requirements, as set
forth in the Notice of Violation, enclosed herewith as Appendix A. This
violation has been categorized by severity level in accerdance with the NRC
Enforcement policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C) published in the Federal Register
Notice (47 FR 9987) dated March 9, 1982. You are required to respond to this
letter and in preparing your response, you should follow the instructions in
Appendix A.

Item C in the Notice of Violation enclosed with this letter was jidentified
during a previous inspection of your licensed activities on March 11, 1980,
and was documented in the enclosure tO our letter dated March 28, 1980. Your
letter to this office dated April 11, 1980 stated that tne use of syringe
¢shields had been mandated by the Radiation Safety Officer and the Chief of the
Nuclear Medicine Service. Frem our January 5, 1983 inspection it appears

~RRDISIGH
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that the stated corrective action were not effective since this item has not
been fully corrected. As Mr. Nicolosi stated during the discussions at the
conclusion of the inspection, recurrent and uncorrected violations are given
additional weight in the consideration and selection of appropriate enforcement
action. In addition, he expressed our concern about the apparent lack of
managment control, especially during the time you were without an official
radiation safety officer, which permitted the violations described in the
attached Notice to occur. Therefore, in your response to this letter, you
should give particular attention to those actions taken or planned to ensure
that identified violations will be completely corrected and will not recur and
that effective management control will be exercised over your program at all
times.

The responses directed by this letter and the accompanying Notice are not
subject to the clearance procedures of the Office of Management and Budget as
required by the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980, PL '16-511.

In accordance with Section 2.790 of the NRC's "Rule: of Practice," Part 2,
Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, a copy of th. s letter and your reply
will be placed in the Public Document Room.

Your cooperation with us in this matter 1s appreciated.

Sincerely,

Original Signed By:
John D. Kinneman

) /Thomas T. Martin, Director
t Division of Engineering and
Technical Programs

Enclosure: Appendix A, Notice of Violation

cc w/o encl:

Public Document Room (PDR)

Nuclear Safety Information Center (NSIC)
District of Columbia

James J. Smith, M.D.

Director, Nuclear Medicine Service (115)
VA Central Office

washington, D.C. 20420

bcec w/o encl:
Region I Docket Room (with concurrences)
Seniov Operations Officer (w/o encl.)

/ ,‘/
1:DETP :DETP
Nicolosi/nm Kinngman

1/25/83 1,4 {3
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APPENDIX A
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

s Administration Medical Center Docket No. 30-01314
License No. 08-00942-05

nducted on January .
), the following viola~

the inspection cO
(10 CFR 2, Appendix C

that each licensee make such
with all sections of Part 20. As
means an evaluation of the radiation
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specific set

10 CFR 20.201(b), ngyryveys", requires
surveys as may be necessary to comply
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tions, including air monitoring an
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after July 15, 1982.

jodine=125 on or
(Supplement V)

y Level IV violations.
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Contrary to the above,
time at other facilities where
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the restricted area and part-

materials are used.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement V)
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¢. Condition 21 of License No. 08-0u942-05 requires that licensed material
be possessed and used in accordance with statements, representations and
procedures contained in an application dated December 22, 1978.

1. Items A.4.b and c of section 11, page 14, of the wRadiation Safety
Guide for Radioisotope Use" submitted with this application, requires
that protective parriers and other shields be uysed whenever possible

and that mechanical devices be used whenever their aid will assist
in reducing exposures.

Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, when technicians
prepared unit doses of technetium-99m products, they failed to yse a
syringe shield, a device which reduces exposure.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement vi).

2 Item 17.a, page 19, of this application requires the measurement of
radiation Jevels with a survey meter in laboratories where gamma-
emitting radioisotopes are used.

Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, survey of radiation

levels in Room 1F-137 had not been made. The inspector jidentified
gamma radiation levels of approximate\y 5 milliroentgens per hour

on a absorbent pad in this area.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement vi)

e Item K, pages 11 and 12, of the wRadiation Safety Guide for Radioiso~
tope Use" submitted with this application requires a monthly inven<
tory record of use of radioisotopes.

Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, no record of inventory
and use was maintained for 10 millicuries of jodine=125 received on
July 15, 1982 and for other licensed materials received when there was
no Radiation safety Officer.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement vl)

pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, the Veterans Administration Medical
Center, washington, D.C., is hereby required to submit to this office within
thirty days of the date of the letter which transmitted this Notice, a written
statement or explanation in reply including; (1) the corrective steps which
have been taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be
taken to avoid further violations; and (3) the date when full compliance will
be achieved. wWhere good cause is shown, consideration will be given to €x=
tending this reponse time.
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Medical Center

WD L
Administration

March 1, 1983

Mr. Thomas T. Martin, Director

50 Irving Street, NW.
washington D.C. 20422

In Rep'y Reler To

Inspection No. 83-01

License No. 08-00942-04
08-00942-05
SNM-1005

pDivision of Engineering and Technical Programs

Region 1
631 Park Avenue
King of Prussia,

THRU:
Nuclear Medicine

VA Central Office
Washington, D 20420
Dear Mr. Martin:

I have received your
inspection with the

change the response

Sincerely yours,

e { 7 7 (Lré) #
o . ?chv zy
edfcal Lent¥r Director

Pennsylvania 19406

Dr. James J. Smith, Director
gervice (1153)

letter regarding the above referenced
Notice of Violations.
you extend the responseé time by two weeks.
date from March

1 request that
This would

7, 1983 to March 21,1983.




Medical Center 50 Irving Street, NW.
washington D.C 20422

-iw

@ Veterans
Administration

March 1, 1983

in Reply Refer To

Inspection No.
License No. 08-00942-00 v
08-00942-05

SNM-1805 2e-2157

Mr. Thomas T. Martin, Director
ing and Technical Programs

pivision of Engineer

Region 1
631 Park Avenue
King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406

THRU: Dr. James J. Smith, Director
Nuclear Medicine Service (115)

VA Central Office
Washington, p. C. 20420

Dear Mr. Martin:
ceived your letter regarding the above referenced
.1 request that

inspection with the Notice of
ou extend the response time by twO week
7, 1983 to March 21,1983.

change the response date from March

1 have re

gincerely yours,




FEB 7

30-00123
30-01314
70-02199

Docket Nos.:

Veterans Administration Medical Center
ATIN: Mr. A. A. Gauazzi
Director
50 Irving St. N.W.
Washington, C. 20422

Gentlemen:

Subject: Inspection No. 83-01

This refers to the routine safety inspectio

and S. Jones of this office on January 9,

83

08-00942-04+"
08-00942-05
SNM-1605

License Nos.:

n conducted by Messrs. J .Nicolosi
1983 of activities authorized by NRC

License Nos. 08-00942-04, 08-00942-05 and SNM-1605 and to the discussions of

our findings held by Mr.

Nicolesi with Ms.
staff at the conclusion of the inspection.

Shepherd and other members of your

The inspection was an examination of activities conducted under your license
as they relate to radiation cafety and to compliance with the Commission's

rules and regulations and the conditions of

your licenses. The inspection

consisted of selective examinations of procedures and representative records,
interviews with personnel. measurements made by the inspector, and observations

by the inspector.

With regard to NRC License No. 08-00942-05 our inspector also verified the
steps you have taken tO correct the violations prought to your attention in the

enclosure to our letter dated March 28, 1980.

We have no further questions

regarding the steps you took to correct jtems 1 and 2. With regard to item 3

this item was not fully corrected.
Based on the results of this inspection,

forth in the Notice of Violation,

it appears that certain of your
activities was not conducted in ful)l compliance with NRC requirements,

as set
This

violation has been categorized by severity level in accordance with the NRC

Enforcement policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C)
Notice (47 FR 9987) dated March 9, 1982.

pub\ished in the Federa)l Register
You are required to respond i

letter and in preparing your response, you should follow the instructions in

Appendix A.

Item C in the Notice of Violation enclosed

with this letter was identified

during a previous inspection of your licensed activities on March 11, 1980,

and was documented in the enclosure to our letter dated March 28,

letter to this office dated April 11,

Nuclear Medicine Service.

S 29223077

p.

1980. Your

1980 stated that the use of syringe
shields had been mandated by the Radiation Safety Oificer and the Chief of
From our January

the
5, 1983 inspection it appears
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that the stated corrective action were not effective since this item has not
peen fully corrected. As Mr. Nicolosi stated during the discussions at the
conclusion of the inspection, recurrent and uncorrected violations are given
additional weight in the consideration and selection of appropriate enforcement
action. In addition, he expressed our concern about the apparent lack of
managment control, especially during the time you were without an official
radiation safety officer, which permitted the violations described in the
attached Notice to occur. Therefore, in your response to this letter, you
should give particular attention to those actions taken or planned to ensure
that jdentified violations will be completely corrected and will not recur and
that effective management control will be exercised over your program at all
times.

The responses directed by this letter and the accompanying Notice are not
subject to the clearance procedures of the Office of Management and Budget as
required by the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980, PL 96-511.

In accordance with Section 2.790 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," Part g
Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations, a copy of this letter and your reply
will be placed in the Public Document Room.

Your cooperation with us in this matter is appreciated.

Sincerely,

(hﬁﬁnalSﬂpmu!!nn
John D. Kinneman

2 /Thomas T. Martin, Director
Division of Engineering and
Technical Programs

Enclosure: Appendix A, Notice of Violation

cc w/o encl:

public Document Room (POR)

Nuclear Safety Information Center (NSIC)
, District of Columbia

, James J. Smith, M.D.

Director, Nuclear Medicine Service (115)
VA Central Office
washington, D.C. 20420

bce w/o encl:
~Region 1 Docket Room (with concurrences)
.Senior Operations Qfficer (w/o encl.)

/ (S
1:DETP 1:DETP
Nicolosi/nm Kinngman

1/25/83 |4[¥3
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APPENDIX A
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Veterans Administration Medical Center Docket No. 30-01314
washington, D.C. License No. 08-00942-05

As a result of the inspection conducted on January 5, 1983, and in accordance
with the NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the following viola-
tions were identified:

A.

10 CFR 20.201(b), ugyurveys", requires that each licensee make such
surveys as may be necessary to comply with all sections of part 20. As
defined in 10 CFR 20.201(a), “eurvey" means an evaluation of the radiation
hazards incident to the production, use, release, disposal or presence of
radioactive materials or other sources of radiation under a specific set
of conditions.

1. Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, surveys (eva\uations)
were not made to assure compliance with that part of 10 CFR 20.101
which limits the dose to the extremities of individuals. Specifi-

cally, personnel monitoring was not provided to evaluate the dose

to the extremities of sturent nuclear medicine technologists working
in the restricted areas. In addition, no evaluation was made of the
radiation dose to the hands and fingers of personnel who inject
patient doses and whose TLD finger badges were not processed for
December 1980, May 1981, January 1982 and May 1982.

2. Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, surveys were not made
to determine that individuals who handled significant quantities of
iodine-125 were not exposed to airborne concentrations exceeding the

limits specified in 10 CFR 20.103. specifically, surveys (evalua-
tions, including air monitoring and thyroid monitoring where appli-
cable) were not made during an jodination using of 10 millicuries of
jodine=125 on or after July 15, 1982.

These are Severity Leve! IV violations. (Supplement V)

10 CFR 20.102(a) requires that, for individuals first entering the re-
stricted area, the occupational dose received at other facilities in the
current calendar quarter be determined.

Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, the occupational dose for
the current calendar was not determined for students who work part-time in
the restricted area and part-time at other facilities where licensed
materials are used.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement V)

$39223995+
120p
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¢. Condition 21 of License No. 08-00942-05 requires that licensed material
be possessed and used in accordance with statements, representations and
procedures contained in an application dated December 22, 1978.

1. Items A.4.b and c of section 11, page 14, of the wRadiation Safety
Guide for Radioisotope Use" submitted with this application, requires
that protective parriers and other shields be used whenever possible

and that mechanical devices be used whenever their aid will assist
in reducing exposures.

Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, when technicians
preparec unit doses of technetium=39m products, they failed to use a
syringe shield, a device which reduces exposure.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement vl).

2. Item 17.a, page 19, of this application requires the measurement of
radiation levels with a survey meter in laboratories where gamma-
emitting radioisotopes are used.

Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, survey of radiation

levels in Room 1F=137 had not been made. The inspector identified
gamma radiation levels of approximate\y 5 milliroentgens per hour

on a absorbent pad in this area.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement Vi)

3. Item K, pages 11 and 12, of the nRadiation Safety Guide for Radioiso~
tope Use" submitted with this application requires a monthly inven<
tory record of use of radioisotopes.

Contrary to the above, as of January 5, 1983, no record of inventory
and use was maintained for 10 millicuries of iodine-125 received on
July 15, 1982 and for other licensed materials received when there was
no Radiation safety Officer.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement vl)

pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, the Veterans Administration Medical
Center, Washington, D.C., is hereby required to submit to this office within
thirty days of the date of the letter which transmitted this Notice, a written
statement Or explanation in reply including; (1) the corrective steps which
have been taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be
taken to avoid further viclations; and (3) the date when full compliance will
be achieved. Where good cause is shown, consideration will be given to €x~®
tending this reponse time.
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NSPECTION PLAN AND REPORT NUMBER Page of
plan Approved: Date: 4

License No.___

icensee
Scheduled for post Inspection Module No.
Inspection Items Inspection Status o
Management Meeting - Entrance 307038
and Exit Interviews 3
P
(Required) //
Program Requirements,
MC 2860 787208
(Required) i .
Followup on Noncompliance 927028
and Deviations
Independent Inspection 927068
gffort
(Required) / /
Transportation 867408
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[NSPECTION REPORT Page of
787208 - Medical - Teletherapy
AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS
Licensee: License No: Amendment No:
INSPECTION ITEM CRITERIA FINDING
1. Organization Lic Cond Y C.

Management organization?

Radiation protection organization?

NOTES & REMARKS: 0~ ;SP+JJ“ hard & watdc e

2. Training and Instructions to Employees (

Training program, scope and frequency, Lic Cond
retraining?
Required tests administered, scores satis-
factory?
8
Instructions to workers? 19.12

NOTES & REMARKS:

2
3. Radiation Protection Procedures Lic Cond :’ 5

Operating and emergency procedures implemented;
interlock failure, handling malfunctions
during operations?

N §-year maintenance? Lic Cond 20
Emergency Procedures posted? Lic Cond 16
Radiation room monitor mounted, operable? Order

Tested? Survey meter used when inoperable?

NOTES & REMARKS:




INSPECTION REPORT NUMBER

Page of

Medical - Teletherapy

AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

License No:

INSPECTION ITEM

CRITERIA FINDING

Materdials, Facilities and Instruments

Teletherapy unig location, interiock system
operational, uired tests? 0k
(every 6 months, records)

Access controls, posting of areas & rooms 7

Survey instruments & dosimeters operable
properly calibrated?

Patient viewing system?

NOTES & REMARKS:

o

—————————

o
Lic Cond 10, 17, 19

Lic Cond

Lic Cond 13

personne! Protection - External

Personne! monitoring control; minimize
exposures, ccatrol of accumulated dose?

20.101, 20.102, 20.202

Surveys conducted following last so L‘ ,201 Lic Cond 18
change? Sent to NRC? Adequate? .b

Levels in unrestricted areas?
Stops installed?
NOTES & REMARKS:

20.1, 20.104

Lic Cond 15

Leak Tests of Sources

Performed by authorized persons & methods:
performed at 6-month (or other) interval?

Records maintained; reports submitted of
leaking sources; corrective action taken?

NOTES & REMARKS:




Page _ of
Medical . Teletherapy
AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

License No: Amendmen t No:
\

INSPECTION ITEM

174 g

To individuals? 19.13
Overexposures, excessive levels, incidents? 20.403, 20.405

Personne! exposures and monitoring, 20.407, 20.408
termination reports?

Theft or loss of Ticensed material: 20.402
Misaaministrations? 35.41 - 35.45
NOTES & REMARKS:

1 Cali 1
At required intervals? 35.21 (a)
Include all required tests? 35.21 (b)
Properly calibrated dosimetry system 0 35.23 (a)
Performed by & Quaiified expert? 35.21 (e), 35.24
Do?a:::;;ncum for interval not exceeding 35.21 (4q)

Records available? 35.2%
NOTES & REMARKS:

9. t k u t t

S —.
At required intervals?  faen” 35.22 (a)
Include all required tests? f\‘/d 35.22 (b)
Performed by qualified expert or revi by 35.22 (c), 35.24
qualified expert within 15 days? i
Properly calibrated dosimetry system? 35.23 (b)
Records available? 35.25
NOTES & REMARKS:
P
L.

10. Posting of Notices

Part 20, license & documents, procedures, 19.11 (a)
notice of violations?

NRC-37 19.11 (¢)

NOTES & REMARKS:




INSPECTION REPORT WUMBER Page of
787208 - Medical - Teletherapy

AREAS INSPECTED AND FINDINGS

Licensee: License No: Jmendment No:

INSPECTION ITEM CRITERIA FINDING

1. Other License Conditions

NOTES & REMARKS:
12. Confirmatory Measurements
::::::::7“ condition 18 survey? 9 & Nb\ﬁg&»& -\'b '*W—‘
NOTES & REMARKS: L
e \1\%4’ -
ﬂgvl**t& ALV T AR
NRC Instrument: Calibration Due Date:

1. 1 t_Inspection Effort s
L‘\UH:Q (ﬁw‘tf e pu %VJ.,L to-9/(~»

NOTES & REMARKS:
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IRSPECTION REPORT NUMBE R

Licansee:

APPENDIX A - DOCUMENTATION OF NOMCOMPL IANCE

License No:

Page of

Basis for noncomp {ance

10 CFR

Lic Cond

Type n/c

10 CFR
Lic Cond

Type n/c

Report item
10 CFR

Lic Cond

Type a/c

Report item
10 CFR
Lic Cond

Type n/c

Report item
10 CFR
Lic Cond

Type n/c

Report item
10 CFR

Lic Cond

Type n/c
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INSPECTION REPORT NUMBER Page of
APPENDIX B - LICENSEE ACTION OM PREVIOUS INSPECTION FINDINGS
Licansee: License No:
Identification and susmary of action taken Status
Paport No: Type n/c: Describe:
«~  Action taken: OPEN
/&/ CLOSED
Report No: Type n/c: Describe:
Action taken: OPEN
CLOSED
Report No: i Type n/c: Describe:
Action taken: OPEN
CLOSED
Report No: Type n/c: Describe:
Action taken: OPEN
CLOSED
Report No: Type n/c: Describe
Action taken: OPEN
CLOSED
Report No: Type n/c: Describe
Action taken: OPEN
CLOSED
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APPENDIX C - SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Licanse No:

Licenses:

() Unresolved {tems

( ) Uncorrected/repeated noncamp | tance
( S Tnspector's commants

() Unusual occurrence, conditions, etc
( ) BSasis for change of Catagory or Priority
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